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understanding the record and the issues to be deci ded.
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BRI EF FOR THE DEPARTMENT OF LABOR

STATEMENT OF JURI SDI CTI ON

This case arises under the enployee protection provisions
of the Clean Air Act (CAA), 42 U. S.C. 7622, Solid Waste D sposal
Act (SWDA), 42 U. S. C. 6971, and Federal Water Pollution Control
Act (FWPCA), 33 U S.C 1367. The Secretary of Labor has
jurisdiction to investigate and adjudicate such cases pursuant
to 42 U.S.C. 7622(b), 42 U.S.C. 6971(b), and 33 U.S.C. 1367(b).
The Departnent of Labor's Administrative Review Board issued the
final decision in this <case pursuant to a delegation of
authority from the Secretary. 29 CFR 24.8(a); see

Secretary's Order 1-2002, 67 Fed. Reg. 64,272 (2002) (current



del egation). This Court has jurisdiction to review the Board's
deci sion because the alleged violation occurred in develand,
Ohio and petitioner Sassé resides or transacts business in that
ar ea. See 42 U S. C. 7622(c)(1); 42 U.S.C 6971(b), 6976(b); 33
U S C 1367(b), 1369(Db). The Board's January 30, 2004 final
decision and order is a final order that disposes of al
parties' clainms. The February 26, 2004 petition for review was
filed wthin 60 days of the Board's January 30, 2004 decision
and is therefore tinely. See 42 U. S.C. 7622(c)(1) (60-day
appeal period); 42 U S C 6976(b) (90-day period); 33 US.C
1369(b) (120-day period).
STATEMENT OF THE | SSUES

1. Wether the Departnent of Labor's Admnistrative
Revi ew Board correctly dismssed as untinely a conplaint by an
Assistant United States Attorney (AUSA) against the Departnent
of Justice where the Board found no discrete adverse action
within the applicable limtations period and no hostile work
envi ronment .

2. Whet her the Board correctly rejected an ALJ's sua
sponte anendnment of the AUSA's conplaint to include a post-
conpl ai nt suspensi on.

3. Whet her the Board correctly concl uded, in the

alternative, that prosecutorial discretion barred consideration



of sonme of the AUSA's allegations and that the other allegations
failed on the nerits.
STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I n Novenber 1996, Gregory Sassé, an AUSA, filed a conplaint
with the Departnent of Labor under the CAA, SWA, and FWPCA
whi st | ebl ower provisions, alleging that his enployer, the United
States Departnent of Justice (DQJ), was retaliating against him
for investigating and prosecuting environnental crines. (R 1,
APX 89-153).1 DQJ denied access to information, and on that
basis the Departnent of Labor's Wage and Hour Division
determ ned in June 1998 that DQJ had violated the CAA, SWDA, and
FWPCA provi si ons. (R 3a, APX 154-157). DQJ obtained a hearing
before an admnistrative law judge pursuant to 29 C F. R
24.4(d)(3), and noved to dismss the conplaint for |ack of
jurisdiction and failure to state a claim (R 4, APX 158-159; R
8, APX 162-205). In Decenber 1998, the ALJ denied DQJ's notion
(R 24, APX 268-275), and in August 2000, the Departnent of
Labor's Adm nistrative Review Board denied DQJ's request for
interlocutory appeal. (R 52, APX 282-285).

In June and July 2001, the ALJ held a hearing on the merits

and in May 2002, the ALJ issued a recomrended deci sion and order

! Sassé also sued individual DQJ enployees, but the ALJ

di sm ssed them as defendants in March 1999 (R 35, APX 278-279)
and Sassé has not appeal ed the di sm ssal.



pursuant to 29 CF.R 24.7. The ALJ concluded that DQJ had not
violated the CAA, SWA, or FWPCA whistleblower provisions wth
respect to the allegations in Sassé's original conplaint. (R
150 Adm nistrative Law Judge Decision ("ALJ") 5-14, APX 62-71).
The ALJ concluded that DOJ had violated these statutes, however
with respect to a post-conplaint suspension that, in the ALJ's
view, was tried by consent at the hearing. (1d. at 14-23, APX
71- 80).

In January 2004, the Administrative Review Board issued a
final decision and order dismssing Sassé' s conplaint. The
Board concluded that Sassé's conplaint was untinmely under the
applicable 30-day limtations period and, alternatively, that
the conplaint failed because prosecutorial discretion barred
review of some of DQJ's actions and Sassé failed to prove that
other DQJ actions were discrimnatory. (R 197 Admnistrative
Revi ew Board Decision ("ARB") 8-26, 34-36 APX 25-43, 51-53).
The Board also held that the ALJ erred by anending Sassé's
conplaint to include the post-conplaint suspension because the
suspension was neither a continuing violation nor tried by
consent. (1d. at 29-30, APX 46-47). Al ternatively, the Board
found that the suspension was not discrimnmnatory. (ld. at 30-

33, APX 47-50). Sassé seeks review of the Board's decision.



STATEMENT OF FACTS

A CAA, SWA, and FWPCA provi si ons

The Clean Air Act (CAA) establishes standards to regul ate
air pollution. See 42 U S.C. 7401 et seq. The Solid Waste
Di sposal Act (SWDA) establishes standards to regulate the
di sposal of solid waste, see 42 U S. C. 6901 et seq., and the
Feder al Wat er Pol lution Control Act ( FWPCA) est abl i shes
standards to regulate water pollution. 33 U S C 1251 et seq
Persons who violate the statutes are subject to civil and
crimnal sanctions. 33 U S . C 1319; 42 US. C 6928, 42 US.C
7413.

The CAA, SWA, and FWCA also prohibit discrimnation
agai nst enpl oyees who have engaged in activities protected under
those statutes. Under the CAA, an enployer may not discrimnate
agai nst an enpl oyee because the enpl oyee

(1) commenced, caused to be commenced, or is about

to commence or cause to be comenced a proceeding

under this chapter or a proceeding for t he

admnistration or enforcement of any requirenent

i nposed under this chapter or wunder any applicable

i npl enent ati on pl an,

(2) testified or is about to testify in any such
proceedi ng, or

(3) assisted or participated or is about to
assist or participate in any mnner in such a
proceeding or in any other action to carry out the
pur poses of this chapter.



42 U S. C 7622(a). The SWDA prohibits persons from
di scrim nating agai nst an enpl oyee or an aut hori zed
representative of enployees because

such enployee or representative has filed, instituted,
or caused to be filed or instituted any proceeding
under this chapt er or under any appl i cabl e
i npl enentation plan, or has testified or is about to
testify in any proceedi ng resulting from the
adm nistration or enforcenent of the provisions of this
chapter or of any applicable inplenentation plan.

42 U.S.C. 6971(a). The FWPCA simlarly prohibits discrimnation
agai nst an enpl oyee or representative because
such enpl oyee or representative has filed, instituted,
or caused to be filed or instituted any proceeding
under this chapter, or has testified or is about to
testify in any proceeding resulting from the
admnistration or enforcenent of the provisions of
this chapter.
33 U S.C 1367(a). The Secretary of Labor adjudicates
conplaints filed under these enployee protection provisions. 33
US C 1367(b); 42 U S.C 6971(b); 42 U S.C 7622(b); see also
29 CF.R pt. 24 (inplenenting regul ations).

B. Activities |leading to Sassé's conpl ai nt

Since 1983, Gegory Sassé has been an Assistant United
States Attorney (AUSA) in the Northern District of Chio. (R 197
ARB 2, APX 19; Sassé TR 32, APX 340). Initially, he was
assigned to the Organized Crinmes Drug Task Force, where he was
consi dered conpetent but not on a par with other attorneys in

the unit. (R 197 ARB 22, APX 39; Sassé TR 35, APX 341; MHargh



TR 890-891, APX 403-404; see RX 02, APX 711-712 ("fully
successful” ratings)). He was then assigned to the Econonic
Crinmes Unit, where his supervisor found himexperienced and able
but not productive enough. (R 197 ARB 22, APX 39; Row and TR
898, APX 405). In an attenpt to find him a niche that would
satisfy and notivate him the Chief of the Crimnal Division
decided in 1987 to have Sassé learn about |egislation
crimnalizing violations of environmental | aws. (R 197 ARB 22,
APX 39; Sassé TR 42, 441, APX 342, 368; Row and TR 899, APX
406) .

In 1988 and 1989, the Division Chief and Sassé's supervisor
assigned him two environnental crinmes cases, one of which
i nvol ved dunping of toxic materials at Cleveland' s airport. (R
197 ARB 2, APX 19; Sassé TR 47, APX 343; Rowl and TR 903, APX

407). See United States v. Bogas, 920 F.2d 363 (6th G r. 1990)

(airport case); United States v. Rutana, 932 F.2d 1155 (6th

Cr.) (other case), cert. denied, 502 U S 907 (1991). Sassé
received his first overall "excellent" appraisals in 1989, 1990,
and 1991, the years he worked on these cases. (R 197 ARB 2, APX
19; RX O 2, APX 711-712).

In 1991, Sassé attended an environmental conference in New
Oleans with the United States Attorney, and after the
conference she asked him to help form an environnental task
force of federal, state, and |ocal agencies. (R 197 ARB 2, APX

7



19; Sassé TR 123, 127-129, APX 346, 347). During the next
quarterly "file review' of his pending cases, Sassé told the
Division Chief that he was going to be very busy on the task
force and did not know if he could get to his other cases. (R
197 ARB 2-3, APX 19-20; Cain TR 1078, APX 425). The Division
Chief, who was aware that Sassé had fallen behind in his case
assignments, checked with the First AUSA, who had supervisory
responsibility over the Division Chiefs, to see whether Sassé
should nmake the task force a full tine job to the exclusion of
hi s other cases. (R 197 ARB 3, 21, APX 20, 38; Cain TR 1078-
1079, APX 425; RX N3, APX 709). The First Assistant viewed it
appropriate to assign other work. (R 197 ARB 3, APX 20; Foley
TR 1136, APX 430; see Cain TR 1079, APX 425). At the next file
review the Division Chief told Sassé that "just because he went
gallivanting around New Orleans with the United States Attorney,
didn't nean he didn't have to finish his other work." (R 197
ARB 3, APX 20; Cain TR 1079, APX 425).

In 1992, Sassé received an overall rating of "excellent”
for his 1991 appraisal, but believed he was "downgraded" from
"outstanding” to "excellent”™ on the "appeals"” elenment of his
appr ai sal because of his environnmental work. (R 197 ARB 3, 20,
APX 20, 37; Sassé TR 116-117, APX 344). In particular, he
blamed the Chief of the Cimmnal Division, who had opposed
t aki ng appeal s in Bogas and Rutana. (R 197 ARB 13, APX 30; Cain

8



TR 1081- 1085, APX 425-426; RX B-2, APX 681). The Deputy Chi ef
of the Crimnal Division explained to Sassé that the "appeals”
rating, which made no difference to Sassé's overall rating,
reflected the "help" that Sassé received from the Environnental
Crimes Section of DQJ's Environnmental and Natural Resources
Division in Wshington, D.C., which wote the governnent's
appellate brief in Bogas and substantially re-wote Sassé's
draft brief in Rutana. (R 197 ARB 19-20, APX 36-37; Sassé TR
119, 122, 352, APX 345, 363). Sassé thought that such help was
irrelevant and believed he should also have received an
"outstanding” rating for appeals in 1992, a year he had no
appeals. (R 197 ARB 20, APX 37; Sassé TR 120, APX 345).

For 1993, Sassé again received an overall rating of
excellent, but the Deputy Chief noted concerns that Sassé was
taking too nuch | eave, not returning phone calls, and not noving
hi s cases. (R 197 ARB 3, APX 20; Stickan TR 934-945, APX 408-
411). One of those cases was a nmjor environnmental case
involving a conpany that collects and disposes of hazardous
waste throughout the United States. (Stickan TR 935-936, APX
408- 409) . For 1994, Sassé received another overall rating of
"excellent,” but was reduced from "outstanding”" to "excellent”
on the "training" elenent, and from "excellent" to "fully
successful” on the "case managenent"” element. (R 197 ARB 3, 20,
APX 20, 37; Sassé TR 356-357, APX 364; RX G 2a, APX 685-701).

9



The Deputy Chief explained that the case nmanagenent rating
reflected delays and m stakes Sassé had nade in assigned cases,
and t he training rating refl ected Sassé's decr eased
participation in office training activities in 1994, (Stickan
TR 946-962, 968, 970-971, APX 411-415, 417; see also R 197 ARB
21, APX 38; Sassé TR 369-371, APX 365).

In 1995, Sassé responded to the changes in his 1994
appraisal, which made no difference to his overall rating, by
filing a grievance. (R 197 ARB 3, 8, APX 20, 25; Sassé TR 354-
355, 391, APX 363, 367; RX G 2b, APX 702-705). 1In the grievance
Sassé conplained about supervisory hostility toward his
envi ronnental work and bl anmed his case nmanagenent problens on an
i nconpet ent secretary. (R 197 ARB 3, 8, APX 20, 25; Sassé TR
377-379, APX 366). In his view, the Division Chief assigned
this secretary to do his work to harass him (R 197 ARB 22, APX
39; Sassé TR 156-158, 306-309, APX 348, 361). The Deputy Chi ef
expl ai ned that neither the Chief nor Sassé's environnental work
had anything to do with the secretarial assignnent. (R 197 ARB
22, APX 39). | nstead, this secretary was assigned in Cctober
1992 to Sassé and to another AUSA who did no environmental work
because their offices were close to her office. (R 197 ARB 22-
23, APX 39-40; Stickan TR 989-990, APX 419). The Deputy Chi ef

al so took steps to inprove that secretary's performance. (R 197

10



ARB 23, APX 40; Stickan TR 965-966, 992-994, APX 416, 420; see
al so Sassé TR 515, APX 375).

Wiile Sassé was grieving his 1994 "downgrades," the major
environnental case involving a conpany that collects and
di sposes of hazardous waste throughout the United States was
transferred from Sassé to DQJ's Environnental and Natural
Resources Division (ENRD). (R 197 ARB 3, APX 20; Sassé TR 601,
APX 380). ENRD |ater decided to close the case wthout
prosecuti ng anyone. (R 197 ARB 3, APX 20; Unhlman TR 591-621,
APX 378-385). Sassé thought the transfer was a "good idea"
(Sassé TR 493, APX 370), but later asserted that his D vision
Chief had transferred the case to ENRD because of his personal
anti pathy toward environnental cases and to protect former
Environnental Protection Agency (EPA) officials who now worked
for that conpany. (R 197 ARB 3, APX 20; Sassé TR 271-286, APX
355-359). The Chief of ENRD s Environnmental Crines Section
(ECS) explained that ENRD becane involved in the case in the
fall of 1994 when it received an unusual request from Sassé's
office to grant imunity to a "whole bunch" of individuals.
(Ul man TR 571-574, 601, APX 377, 380; see RX @8, APX 713).
The case was transferred to ENRD after the EPA requested a
transfer. (Sassé TR 491-492, APX 369; Stickan TR 1018, APX
424). ENRD deci ded agai nst prosecution because of weaknesses in
t he evi dence. (Uhlman TR 613-617, APX 383-384). The Chief of

11



ECS, who was assigned to the case, explained that Sassé agreed
with the decision not to prosecute and that ECS had no
communi cations wth Sassé' s supervisors about the nmatter.
(Uhlman TR 617-619, 682, APX 384-385, 386; see also Sassé TR
495- 496, APX 370; R 197 ARB 13 n. 6, APX 30-31).

In February 1996, the Executive Ofice for the United
States Attorneys (EOUSA) denied Sassé's grievance. (RX G3, APX
706-708; Sassé TR 390, APX 367; see R 197 ARB 20, APX 37). In
April 1996, Sassé agreed with the Deputy Chief that the
secretary Sassé had conpl ained about had inproved so nuch that
she should be rated excellent in every performance el enent for
1995. (R 197 ARB 23, APX 40; Sassé TR 516, APX 375; RX D4, APX
682- 684) . In Novenber 1996, Sassé filed a 65-page conplaint
with the Departnment of Labor, alleging that supervisory actions
di scussed above anobunted to discrimnation prohibited by the
CAA, SWDA, and FWPCA whi st ebl ower provisions. (R 1, APX 89-
153) . He also alleged that he had been assigned a higher
casel oad than an average AUSA, harassed during file reviews, and
denied awards and training because of his environnental
activities. (ld. at 20-21, 32, 52, APX 108-109, 120, 140).

C. Post - conpl ai nt activities

In 1997, while still working as an AUSA, Sassé proposed to
officials of the National Aeronautics and Space Adm nistration
(NASA) that he work for them in a private capacity to help
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ensure that NASA contractors adhere to environnental |aws. (R
197 ARB 3-4, APX 20-21; 1/14/00 Letter from DeFal aise to Sasse,
at 1-2, APX 329-330 (R 154 attachnent); Sassé TR 505-507, APX
373). At that tinme, NASA owned property next to the d evel and
airport that Sassé had discovered, from his work on Bogas and
the environnmental task force, to be severely contam nat ed. (R
197 ARB 4, APX 21; Sassé TR 256-258, APX 353-354; see also
Wat son TR 206- 220, APX 349-352). The NASA officials referred
Sassé's business proposal to NASA's Ofice of Inspector Ceneral
(OGQ, who in turn referred the matter to DQJ's OG (R 197 ARB
4, APX 21; DeFalaise Letter, supra, at 2, APX 330). In late
1998, DQJ officials informed Sassé that he was under a crim nal
investigation in connection with his NASA proposal. (R 197 ARB
4, APX 21; Sassé TR 502, 507, APX 372, 373). Sassé filed a
whi st ebl ower conplaint with the Departnent of Labor alleging
that the investigation was retaliatory. (Sassé TR 508-509, APX
373-374). The Department of Labor investigated and found no
discrimnation, and Sassé failed to seek review of that
determ nation. (ld. at 509-510, APX 374).

In the summer of 1999, Sassé took a nedical |[|eave of
absence for heart surgery. (Sassé TR 322, APX 362). Concerned
about the status of pending environnental cases, the EPA agent
in charge of investigations asked DQJ to assign a new attorney
to Sassé's cases while he was out of the office. (Martin TR
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704- 705, APX 387). The Deputy Chief in Sassé's division
assigned a new attorney and personally assumed Sassé's role in
chairing the environnental task force. (Martin TR 711, APX 388;
Stickan TR 1002-1004, APX 421-422). Whien Sassé returned to
work, his appearance and actions raised concerns about the
status of his health. (Edwards TR 806-816, APX 396-399; Stickan
TR 1005- 1008, APX 422-423). Accordingly, the Deputy Chief chose
not to give Sassé his prior casel oad. (Stickan TR 1005-1006,
APX 422). The EPA agent in charge of investigations felt that
the attorney who had assuned Sassé's environnental cases was
doing "outstanding" work and agreed with the decision not to
assign the cases back to Sassé. (Martin TR 730, APX 391).
Sassé was invited to attend neetings of the environmental task
force and attended one or two after his surgery, then stopped
attending. (Sassé TR 254, APX 353).

On January 14, 2000, the EQUSA proposed to suspend Sassé
for five days because his business proposal to NASA violated
ethical standards of DQJ and the Ofice of Governnent Ethics.
(R 197 ARB 4, APX 21; DeFal aise Letter, supra, at 1-2, APX 329-
330). Those standards require, anong other things, that DQJ
enpl oyees obtain prior approval before engaging in outside
enpl oynent that involves a subject matter in their enploying
agency's area of responsibility, 5 C F.R 3801. 106(c), and
prohi bit a governnment enployee from using public office for his
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own private gain, 5 CF. R 2635.702. (R 197 ARB 4, APX 21); see
also 18 U.S.C. 208 (crimnal conflict of interest provision).

In late January or early February 2000, Sassé received a
request from a staff person in Congressman Kucinich's office to
assist that office in evaluating environnental issues at the
Cl evel and airport, which was in the Congressman's district. (R
197 ARB 4, APX 21; Sassé TR 254-256, APX 253). On February 2,
2000, Sassé inforned the First AUSA of this contact. (R 197 ARB
4, APX 21; RX Z-4, APX 725). The First AUSA obtained nore
details from Sassé on the environnental problens and then asked
himto wite a neno detailing his concerns. (R 197 ARB 4, APX
21; Edwards TR 831-832, 839, APX 400-401; RX Z-5, APX 726).
Sassé wote a nmeno alleging that NASA officials were covering up
contam nation on the NASA property near the airport. (R 197 ARB
4, APX 21; CX 17-E, APX 433-435). DQJ, the EPA, the Federal
Bureau of Investigation (FBI), and NASA's O G investigated, and
in June or July 2000, they unani nously concluded that there was
no current evidence of crimnal wongdoing. (R 197 ARB 4, APX
21; Martin TR 721-723, APX 389-390; Edwards TR 840-845, APX 401-
402; CX 17-E, APX 433-435).

On May 2, 2000, acting on the January 14, 2000 proposed
di sciplinary action, the Director of EOUSA suspended Sassé for
five days for his October 1997 attenpt to obtain private
enpl oyment with NASA. (R 197 ARB 4, APX 21; 5/2/00 Letter from
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Santelle to Sassé, APX 333-335 (R 154 attachnent)). The
Director concluded that Sassé had violated the DQJ ethical
regulation requiring prior approval before an enpl oyee engages
in outside enploynent and the Ofice of Governnment Ethics
regul ation prohibiting an enployee from using his public office
for private gain. (R 197 ARB 4-5, APX 21-22; Santelle Letter,
supra, at 2, APX 334). Sassé did not appeal the suspension, and
he served the suspension from July 17, 2000, through July 21,
2000. (R 197 ARB 5, APX 22).

Sassé has continued to receive "neets to exceeds"
per formance ratings. (Stickan TR 983, APX 418). He conti nues
to be paid at the maxi num pay rate for AUSAs. (R 150 ALJ 5, APX
62; Edwards TR 758-760, APX 392-393).

ADM NI STRATI VE PROCEEDI NGS

A. DQJ's notions to dism ss the case and excl ude evi dence

In July 1998, DQJ filed a notion to dismss the conplaint
for lack of subject matter jurisdiction and failure to state a
cause of action wthin the applicable 30-day limtations period.
(R 8, APX 162-205). Before ruling on the notion the ALJ asked
Sassé for a list of particular events alleged to be
di scrim natory. (R 18, at 46-47, APX 211-212). Sassé
responded, in October 1998, wth a 2l11-paragraph list that
|argely repeated allegations in his 65-page conplaint. (R 20,
APX 213-266). In Decenber 1998, the ALJ recommended that DQJ's
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noti on be denied because Sassé had alleged activity protected
under the CAA, SWDA, and FWPCA whistl ebl ower provisions and it
was premature to determ ne whether the conplaint was tinely. (R
24, at 5, 8, APX 272, 275). I n August 2000, the Board denied
interlocutory review, stating that it had subject matter
jurisdiction and that DQJ's argunment about subject matter
jurisdiction addressed a different issue -- whether Sassé's
actions could be considered protected activities under the CAA
SWDA, and FWPCA provisions -- that could be addressed after an
ALJ adjudication. (R 52, at 3-4, APX 284-285).

On remand, DQJ filed a notion for partial summary deci sion,
arguing that alleged incidents occurring outside the limtations
period were tine-barred. (R 84, APX 289-298). DA later filed
a nmotion for summary decision repeating this argunent and al so
argui ng that Sassé's prosecution of environnental crines was not
protected activity and that Sassé's failed to establish a
hostile work environnent. (R 98, at 1, 21-27, APX 300, 319-
325). The ALJ overruled the notion wthout discussion and
proceeded to hear the case on the nerits. (R 197 ARB 5, APX 22;
TR 6, APX 339). At that hearing, DQJ noved to strike evidence
concerning the post-conplaint condition of NASA' s property near
Cl eveland's airport and post-conplaint Congressional request for
Sassé's assi stance. (R 197 ARB 29, APX 46; TR 1106-1107, APX
427). Sassé's counsel opposed the notion, stating that
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there is no specific claimrelated to NASA There is

no specific claimrelated to the other matters which

t he Governnent seeks to strike.
(R 197 ARB 29, APX 46; TR 1108, APX 427). The ALJ denied the
notion, stating that the evidence concerned "a continuation of a
pattern of violations." (R 197 ARB 29-30, APX 46-47; TR 1108-
1109, APX 427). Stating that "these matters have been tried,"
the ALJ then anended Sassé's conplaint "to include continuing

violations." (R 197 ARB 30, APX 47; TR 1109, APX 427).

B. The ALJ's recommended deci si on

In his My 2002 reconmended decision, the ALJ concluded
that DQJ had not violated the CAA, SWA, or FWPCA whi stl ebl ower
provisions with respect to the allegations in Sassé's original
conplaint. (R 150 ALJ 5-14, APX 62-71). The ALJ reasoned that
the activities Sassé clained were protected -- prosecuting
environmental crinmes and serving on an environnmental task force
-- were not protected because they were part of his normal job
duti es. (ld. at 5-8, APX 62-65). The ALJ al so concl uded that
DQJ had not retaliated against Sassé for engaging in these
activities. (ld. at 8-9, APX 65-66). After reviewng ENRD s
reasons for not prosecuting the najor environnmental case that
was transferred from Sassé, the ALJ concluded that DQJ's
decision not to prosecute was beyond the scope of the

whi st | ebl ower provisions. (ld. at 9-13, APX 66-70).
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The ALJ al so concluded, however, that DQJ had violated the
whi st | ebl ower provisions when it suspended Sassé for five days
in May 2000 in retaliation for his contacts in January or
February 2000 with Congressman Kucinich's office. (R 150 ALJ
14- 23, APX 71-80). The ALJ recognized that his rulings at the
hearing had not "directly addressed® whether to consider post-
conpl aint evidence as evidence of retaliation for post-conplaint
pr ot ect ed activity rat her t han evi dence of conti nui ng
retaliation for pre-conplaint protected activities. (ld. at 14-
15, APX 71-72). The ALJ concluded, however, that evidence
concerning retaliation for post-conplaint protected activity
shoul d be consi dered because DQJ "had the opportunity to and did
address these matters wth evidence, cross-examnation and
argunent . " (1d. at 15, APX 72). In the ALJ's view, the My
2000 suspension was retaliatory because the NASA engi neer, who
was the only witness other than Sassé to testify for Sassé, had
reported feeling pressure from NASA over the airport property.
(Id. at 16-18, 21, APX 73-75, 78). The ALJ also inferred
discrimnation because, in the ALJ's view, DQ)'s suspension
"took the formof an arbitrary enforcenent of a petty governnent
regulation [that] prohibits federal per sonnel from using
government owned equi pnent for their own use." (ld. at 21, APX

78) .

19



C. The Adm nistrative Revi ew Board's deci si on

In its January 2004 decision, the Board held that Sassé's
conplaint was untinely under the applicable 30-day limtations
period in 33 US. C 1367(b), 42 US. C 6971(b), and 42 U S. C
7622(b) (1). (R 197 ARB 8, APX 25). The Board reasoned that
each adverse action alleged by Sassé in his conplaint occurred
outside that 30-day period. The Board rejected Sassé's argunent
that his secretary was "reassigned® to him within the 30-day
period, and held that no hostile work environment existed to
enlarge that period. (ld. at 9-10, APX 26-27).

Alternatively, the Board held that Sassé's conplaint failed
on the nerits. (R 197 ARB 13-26, APX 30-43). Wthout deciding
whet her Sassé's work on environnental crines was protected
activity, the Board held it could not review actions by DQJ that
were based on prosecutorial discretion, i.e., the recomendation
by the Chief in Sassé's Division not to appeal Bogas and Rutana,
and ENRD s decision not to pursue the major environnental case
that Sassé had previously handl ed. (ld. at 13-18, APX 30-35).
The Board reviewed other DQJ actions, however, contrary to
argunents by DOQJ and the Departnent of Labor's Assistant

Secretary for GCccupational Safety and Health (GOSHA). (1d. at

20



13-17, APX 30-34).2 The Board found that none of these other
actions was discrimnatory. (ld. at 19-21, APX 36-38 (no
discrimnation in performance evaluations and awards); id. at
21-22, APX 38-39 (concerns of Sassé's Division Chief stemed
from Sassé's |ow productivity, not his work on an environnental
task force); id. at 22-23, APX 39-40 (secretarial assignnment was
based solely on office proximty); id. at 23-24, APX 40-41
(Sassé's casel oad was not significantly greater than average for
an AUSA or a result of supervisory aninus); id. at 25-26, APX
42-43 (no obstruction of Sassé's access to training and
instruction, much | ess obstruction for discrimnatory reasons)).
The Board also held that the ALJ erred as a matter of |aw
by anending Sassé's conplaint to include a claim that the My
2000 suspension was discrimnatory. (R 197 ARB 29-30, APX 46-
47) . The time period for challenging the suspension expired in
June 2000, the Board reasoned, because the suspension was a
di screte act and not, as the ALJ concluded, part of a continuing

vi ol ati on. (1d. at 29, APX 46). DA also did not try the

2 The Assi st ant Secretary i nvesti gates whi st | ebl ower
conplaints and nmay participate as a party or amcus in
adm ni strative proceedings. 29 CF. R 24.1(c), 24.4, 24.6(f).
Al though the Assistant Secretary urged a different position than
t he Board adopted on sone issues, this brief defends the Board's
deci si on because the Board issues final agency decisions for the
Department of Labor. 29 CFR 24.8(a). The Departnent of
Labor, rather than the Department of Justice, is the proper
respondent on appeal. See Fed. R App. P. 15(a)(2)(B).
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suspension by consent, the Board stated, because evidence
concerning Sassé's congressional contacts, the NASA property,
and the suspension related to the conplainant's reasoning and
credibility. (ld. at 30, APX 47). Thus, the subm ssion and
consideration of this evidence did not indicate that an unlaw ul
suspension claim was being heard. (See ibid. (the ALJ's
recomrended decision was the first notice DQJ received of a
cl ai m based on Sassé's suspension)).

Al ternatively, the Board held that the suspension was not
discrimnatory. (R 197 ARB 30-33, APX 47-50). First, the Board
found no evidence that the persons who suspended Sassé and
recomrended his suspension knew about Sassé's congressional
contact, or that they had any notive to retaliate against Sassé
because of that contact. (ld. at 31, APX 48). Second, the
Board found that the ALJ's reconmmended decision was based on
factual errors. (ld. at 32-33, APX 49-50). The ALJ found that
Sassé was suspended for m susing governnent property, the Board
stated, whereas the primary reason for the suspension was
Sassé's serious breach of ethics in using his position as an
AUSA to seek private enploynment with NASA.  (1d. at 32, APX 49).
The ALJ al so found that adverse action was not taken until after
Sassé's contact with Congressman Kucinich, the Board stated,
when in fact the suspension was proposed before that contact and
was the culmnation of a process that began in 1997. (1d. at
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32- 33, APX 49-50). Finally, the Board found "no nexus whatever"
between the experience of the NASA engineer with NASA and
Sassé's experience in DOJ. (ld. at 33, APX 50).
SUVWARY OF ARGUMENT

| . Substantial evidence supports the Board's finding that
Sassé's conplaint was untinely. The applicable limtations
period requires a conplaint within 30 days after an alleged
viol ation occurs. Sassé alleges discrete violations that
occurred nore than 30 days before his Novenber 26, 1996
conplaint, including clains about 1991 and 1994 perfornmance
appraisals, a 1992 decision to reassign Secretary X to Sassé,
denial of awards, and a failure in 1995 to provide training.

Under National Railroad Passenger Corp. v. Mrgan, 536 U S. 101

(2002), these clains are tinme-barred even if they relate to acts
occurring within the limtations period.

Sassé's hostile work environment claim is also untinely.
Sassé has failed to prove that any acts contributing to a
hostile work environment occurred wthin 30 days of his
conplaint, as required under Nbrgan. He has also failed to
prove the existence of a hostile work environnent. I n argui ng
that a Novenber 1996 assignnent of Secretary X to Sassé nakes
his conplaint tinmely, Sassé ignores the wuntineliness of the
discrete acts alleged in his conplaint. He also fails to prove
t hat a reassignnent occurred in Novenber 1996 because
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substanti al evidence supports the Board's finding of fact that
Secretary X was not assigned to Sassé in Novenber 1996.

1. The Board acted well within its discretion in finding
that DQJ did not inplicitly consent to a trial of Sassé's
unpl eaded claim that the May 2000 suspension was discrimnatory.
Implied consent requires that the parties understand that
evi dence presented at trial is ainmed at the unpleaded issue.
| npl i ed consent does not exist when evidence is relevant to a
pl eaded issue as well as to the unpl eaded one. Here, there was
no inplied consent because the post-conplaint evidence of
Sassé's business proposal to NASA, his contacts with Congressnan
Kucinich's office, and his continuing involvenent with the NASA
property near the Ceveland airport was relevant, under Board
precedents, to the allegations in Sassé's conplaint. Sassé's
attorney also told the ALJ, when DQJ asked to exclude the
evidence, that there was no specific claim related to these
matters. The ALJ admtted in his recommended decision that, in
allowng the evidence, the ALJ had not addressed whether the
evidence related to a new claim based on Sassé's post-conpl ai nt
congressi onal contacts. Contrary to Sassé's argunent, DQJ did
not get a fair chance to address the suspension evidence when
the ALJ reopened the record, because the reopening had nothing
to do with the suspension issue and the parties did not know
that a new i ssue concerning the suspension had entered the case.
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L1l Alternatively, Sassé's clains fail on the nerits.
The Board permssibly construed the CAA, SWA, and FWCA
whi st | ebl ower provisions not to permt the Board to exan ne
DQJ' s prosecutorial decisionmaking. It is well established that
courts do not exam ne DQJ's prosecutorial decisionnmaki ng because
courts are not equipped to assess all factors relevant to
prosecutorial decisionmking and such an examnation raises
serious separation of powers concerns. Based on those concerns
and on the principle that Congress would not abrogate DQJ's
wel | -established prosecutori al authority w thout expressly
saying so in statutory text, the Board concluded that the CAA
SWDA, and FWPCA whistleblower provisions do not allow the
Depart ment of Labor to exani ne DA’ s prosecutori al
deci si onnmaki ng. Sassé's argunent -- that the Board can review
DQJ's prosecutorial decisionmaking to see if an adverse
enpl oynent action resulted from DQJ hostility to prosecution of
envi ronment al crimes but not to set aside prosecutorial
decisions -- should be rejected. Such review raises the sane
concerns that Iled courts not to review DQJ's prosecutorial
deci si onmaki ng in other contexts. In each case, review would
require courts to assess factors they are not equipped to assess
and raises serious separation of powers concerns by exposing
DQAJ's notives and deci sionmaking to outside inquiry and possibly
reveal i ng governnent enforcenent policies.
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Substantial evidence supports the Board' s findings that
Sassé also failed to prove that DA’ s actions were
discrimnatory, even if they did not involve prosecutorial
di scretion. The record supports the Board's finding that Sassé
received lowered ratings and no awards because of shortcom ngs
in his work, including |ow productivity. Sassé and anot her
attorney who did no environnental work were assigned to
Secretary X in 1992 because their offices were close to hers
and in Jlater years DQJ effectively addressed problenms in
Secretary X' s work. Sassé's caseload was not significantly
greater than the average for an AUSA, and he had access to
training and instruction. DQJ suspended Sassé because he
vi ol ated governnent ethics rules by using his DQJ position to
attenpt to obtain private enploynment with NASA. Sassé failed to
establish his hostile work environnent claim because his
all egations of harassnent, even if true, are not the kind of
severe or pervasive harassnent required to establish a hostile
work environnment claim Sassé's contrary argunents are based
mainly on his own testinony and specul ative inferences that are
insufficient to overturn Board findings of fact that are

supported by substantial evidence.
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ARGUMENT

THE BOARD CORRECTLY DI SM SSED SASSE'S COWPLAI NT
AS UNTI MELY

A. St andard of review

This Court may overturn the Board's decision "only if we
find that the decision '"is unsupported by substantial evidence'
or if it is "arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, or

ot herwise not in accordance with |aw. Varnadore v. Secretary

of Labor, 141 F.3d 625, 630 (6th Cr. 1998) (quoting 5 U S. C
706(2)(A)). The Board's findings on tineliness are reviewed for
substanti al evidence. See Varnadore, 141 F.3d at 630-631. That
standard "is a lower standard than weight of the evidence and
"the possibility of drawing two inconsistent conclusions from
t he evidence does not prevent an adm nistrative agency's finding

from bei ng supported by substantial evidence.'"™ Painting Co. v.

NLRB, 298 F.3d 492, 499 (6th Gr. 2002) (citations omtted).

B. Di screte acts that occurred nore than 30 days before Sassé
filed his conplaint are tine-barred

In National Railroad Passenger Corp. v. Miyrgan, 536 U S.

101, 105 (2002), the Suprene Court held that Title VII of the
Gvil Rghts Act of 1964, 42 U S C. 2000e et seq., "precludes
recovery for discrete acts of discrimnation or retaliation that
occur outside the statutory tinme period.” The Court reasoned
that Title VII requires that a charge be filed within a

speci fied nunber of days after an unlawful enploynment practice
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"occurred,” and that "[a] discrete retaliatory or discrimnatory
act 'occurred” on the day that it 'happened."" 536 U S. at 109-
110. Discrete acts of discrimnation "are not actionable if
tinme barred, even when they are related to acts alleged in
timely filed charges.” Id. at 113. Mor gan thereby "overturns
prior Sixth GCrcuit law' allowing plaintiffs to establish a
continuing violation "by proof that the alleged acts of
discrimnation occurring prior to the limtations period are
sufficiently related to those occurring within the limtations
period."” Sharpe v. Cureton, 319 F.3d 259, 268 (6th GCr.), cert.
denied, 124 S. C. 228 (2003).°3

The rationale of Mdrgan, that a violation "occur[s]" on the
day that it happens, applies in this case because the
whi st ebl ower provisions at issue require the filing of a
conplaint within 30 days after an alleged violation "occurs."
33 U.S.C. 1367(b); 42 U S.C. 6971(b); 42 U S.C 7622(b)(1). Cf

Bell v. Chio State Univ., 351 F.3d 240, 247-248 (6th Cr. 2003)

(finding "'no principled basis upon which to restrict Mrgan to

Title VII claims'") (citing Sharpe, 319 F.3d at 267).

3 After Mor gan, this Court continues to recognize a
continuing violation exception to a limtations period based on
a pattern or policy of discrimnation. See Sharpe, 319 F.3d at
268. No such pattern or policy has been established in this
case. See id. at 266-267 (policy requires a show ng that
"“intentional discrimnation against the class of which the
plaintiff was a nenber was the conpany's standing operating
procedure'") (citation omtted).
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Accordingly, discrete acts of alleged discrimnation that
occurred nore than 30 days before Sassé filed his conplaint are
time-barred even if they are related to incidents that occurred
within the [imtations period.

In this case the Board correctly concluded that tine-barred
discrete acts of discrimnation include Sassé s clainms about
unfair performance appraisals in 1991 and 1994, the 1992
decision to assign Secretary X to Sassé, and the failure up to
1995 to send Sassé to training he wanted. (R 197 ARB 9-10, APX

26-27); see Pegram v. Honeywell, Inc., 361 F.3d 272, 280 (5th

Cir. 2004) (failure to train is discrete act); Mller v. New

Hanpshire Dep't of Corr., 296 F.3d 18, 22 (1st Cr. 2002) (sane

for performance appraisal); Bell, 351 F.3d at 243-248 (sane for
actions a university took in response to a student's acadenmc
probl ens) . Sassé's clains about being denied awards before
Novenber 1996 are also discrete events that are time-barred.
(See Sassé TR 296, APX 560 (awards always had a nonetary
conponent)).

C. The hostile work environnent claim is untinely because no

act contributing to the <claim occurred wthin the
limtations period

Under Morgan, the entire period of a hostile work
environnent may be considered by a court, so long as "an act
contributing to the claim occurs wthin the filing period."
Morgan, 536 U S. at 117; see also MFarland v. Henderson, 307
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F.3d 402, 408 (6th G r. 2002). Absent such an act, a hostile
work environment claim is untinely. See Pegram 361 F.3d at
279-280; Varnadore, 141 F.3d at 630-631 (affirmng Secretary's
finding that whistleblower conplaint was untinely where no act
of retaliation occurred within the 30-day limtations period).

In this case, Sassé has failed to show that any acts
contributing to a hostile work environment occurred within 30
days of his Novenber 26, 1996 conpl aint. H's hostile
environment claim mainly concerns alleged coments nade by his
supervi sors. (See R 197 ARB 35-36, APX 52-53). Sassé has not
shown, however, that such comments occurred within 30 days of

hi s Novenber 26, 1996 conpl aint. See Lucas v. Chicago Transit

Auth., 367 F.3d 714, 723-727 (7th Cir. 2004) (enployees'
conclusory statenents, wi thout tines, dates or places, failed to
establish a hostile act within the limtations period). Nor has
he shown that any other act contributing to a hostile work
envi ronment occurred within that period because, as we discuss
bel ow, the Board correctly held that no hostile work environnent
existed at all. See Var nador e, 141 F.3d at 630-631.
Accordingly, Sassé failed to establish a tinely claim of a
hostil e work environnent.

D. Sassé's tineliness argunents are neritless

Sassé asserts that his conplaint was tinmely for two
reasons. First, he clainms the Board drew "plainly wong"
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inferences in concluding that Secretary X was not reassigned to
Sassé shortly before he filed his conplaint. Pet. Br. 23.
Second, he argues that under the continuing violation doctrine,
all events occurring before he filed his conplaint were tinely.
Id. at 29-30. Neither of these argunents has any merit.*

1. The secretarial "reassignnment"”

Even if Secretary X was reassigned to Sassé shortly before
his conplaint, that action would not alter the fact that
discrete acts occurring before the alleged reassignnment are
still untinely, even if related to the "reassignnent." See
Morgan, 536 U.S. at 113; Sharpe, 319 F.3d at 268. Accordingly,
the existence of a discrimnatory "reassignnent” within 30 days
of Sassé's conplaint bears only on the Board's finding that no
di screte act occurred within that period. If a reassignnent
occurred, the conplaint would be tinely as to the allegation
that the reassignnent was discrimnatory. I f no reassignnent
occurred, then Sassé's conpl aints about his continued assi gnnment
to Secretary X are untinely, even though he may have requested
that the Secretary's assignnment to him be term nated. See

Kovacevich v. Kent State Univ., 224 F.3d 806, 829 (6th Cir.

2000) ("denial of a request for relief from discrimnation does

4 Sassé also asserts that his post-conplaint suspension was

tried by consent and becane a tinely part of the conplaint.
Pet. Br. 24-29. Li ke the Board, we discuss this post-conplaint
suspensi on as a separate issue.
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not itself constitute a discrimnatory act that tolls the
statute of limtations").

The record supports the Board's finding of no reassignnent
within the relevant 30-day tinme period. The Deputy Chief in
Sassé's division testified that Secretary X was assigned to
Sassé in 1992 and that she was "still" his secretary "until" she
was reassigned in 1997. (R 197 ARB 9, 22, APX 26, 39; Stickan
TR 980, APX 418). Sassé stated, when he filed his conplaint,
that Secretary X "continues to be conplainant's secretary”
despite his requests for soneone el se. (R 197 ARB 9, APX 26
(quoting conplaint)). The only tinme that Secretary X did not
work for Sassé was when she was on a performance inprovenent

plan and he gave work to other secretaries. (Ibid.; Sassé TR

516-517, APX 375-376; Stickan TR 965, 992-994, APX 416, 420).
That plan ended, however, with Sassé's April 1996 approval (R
197 ARB 9, APX 26; Stickan TR 994-995, APX 420), and by Novenber
1996 Sassé was again adnmittedly conplaining about Secretary X s
per f or mance. (R 20, ¥ 199, APX 263 (conplainant's list of
discrimnatory acts)). The logical inference from these facts
is that there was no "reassignnment” of Secretary X to Sassé in
Novenber 1996. |Instead, there was a failure to assign Secretary
X away from Sassé, which is not itself "a discrimnatory act

that tolls the statute of limtations." Kovacevich, 224 F.3d at

829.
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None of Sassé's argunments detracts from the Board's
inference, let alone shows that it is so illogical that it fails

the substantial evidence test. See Painting Co., 298 F.3d at

499 (possibility of drawing two inconsistent conclusions from
the evidence does not prevent an agency's finding from being
supported by substantial evidence). Sassé first asserts that
"the ALJ shoul d be given nore deference.” Pet. Br. 22. The ALJ
never decided whether a reassignnent occurred however, and
therefore gets no deference with respect to a finding he did not
make. See Varnadore, 141 F.3d at 630-631. Sassé then relies on
his own statenment, wthout record support, that the D vision
Chi ef reassigned secretaries on Novenber 22, 1996, and that
Secretary X was again assigned as his secretary. Pet. Br. 24.
That statenment shows only that Sassé viewed his failure to
obtain a new secretary as a reassignnent. Sassé al so argues
that DQJ "admtted" in a notion for partial summary decision
that the "reassignnment” was within the statute of |imtations.
Id. at 23. DAJ did not admt that a reassignnment occurred,
however . (See R 18, at 37, APX 210; R 179, at 4-5, APX 337-
338). Its nmotion for partial summary decision addressed only
Sassé's "allegations,” see Pet. Br. 23 (quoting notion), before
evi dence was submtted at the hearing and before Mrgan changed
the law on continuing violations. The notion therefore in no
way precluded DQJ, |et alone the Board, fromreaching a contrary
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deci sion based on the hearing record and the standards set out
i n Morgan.

2. Sassé's msunderstanding of the continuing violation
doctri ne

In arguing that "all of the events occurring before his
conplaint were tinely, Sassé asserts that the essence of his
claim is that he has been the victim of a hostile work
envi ronment and that the "reassignnent” of Secretary X and five-
day, post-conplaint suspension are just two exanples of a
"pattern and practice of harassing M. Sassé in retaliation for
his environnmental crinme work." Pet. Br. 29-30. As di scussed
above, the "reassignnment” never occurred. A suspension is also
a "discrete act"™ and not part of a hostile work environnent.
See Morgan, 536 U S. at 113-119 (discussing difference between

di screte acts and hostile work environnent); Conley v. Village

of Bedford Park, 215 F.3d 703, 710 (7th G r. 2000) (suspension

is a discrete act). Sassé has therefore failed to show that the
Board erred in dismssing his conplaint as untinely.

1. THE POST- COVPLAI NT SUSPENSI ON CLAI M WAS NOT TRI ED
BY CONSENT

A St andard of review

This Court applies an abuse of discretion standard to
review a decision on whether an issue not raised in the
pl eadi ngs has been tried by inplied consent. Craft v. United
States, 233 F.3d 358, 371 (6th Gr. 2000), rev'd on other
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grounds, 535 U. S. 274 (2002); see also Kovacevich, 224 F.3d at
831. A simlar standard applies in this case, but it applies to
the Board's decision, not to the ALJ's recomended deci sion.
See Varnadore, 141 F.3d at 630 (the Adm nistrative Procedure Act
(APA)'s "highly deferential standard of review is not altered
nmerely because [the Board] disagrees with the ALJ," and this
Court "'defer[s] to the inferences that the [Board] derives from
the evidence, not to those of the ALJ'") (citations omtted).

B. DQJ did not consent because the suspension claim was not

pl eaded and the parties did not wunderstand evidence at
trial to be ained at such a claim

When an issue not raised by the pleadings is tried by
inplied consent of the parties, the Departnent's rules of
procedure, like Fed. R Civ. P. 15(b), permt the pleadings to be
anended to conform to the evidence. See 29 C.F.R 18.5(e); (R
150 ALJ 15, APX 72). To establish inplied consent, however, "'it
nmust appear that the parties understood the evidence to be ained

at the unpleaded issue.'" Kovacevich, 224 F.3d at 831 (citation

omtted); see also, e.g., Carlisle Equip. Co. v. United States

Sec'y of Labor, 24 F.3d 790, 795 (6th G r. 1994). An "agency nay

not base its decision upon an issue the parties tried
i nadvertently. . . . [E]Jvidence introduced at a hearing that is
relevant to a pleaded issue as well as an unpl eaded issue cannot

serve to give the opposing party fair notice that the new,
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unpl eaded issue is entering the case."” Yellow Freight Sys., Inc.
v. Martin, 954 F.2d 353, 358 (6th Cr. 1992).

The Board properly applied these principles in this case.
Before the ALJ hearing, Sassé gave no notice in his pleadings or
ot herwi se that his My 2000 suspension was at issue. See Pet.
Br. 27-29 (quoting pleadings, which say nothing about the
suspensi on). At the June 2001 ALJ hearing, he discussed his
business proposal to NASA, his contacts wth Congressman
Kucinich's office, and his May 2000 suspension in the context of
relating his continuing involvenent with the NASA property near
the C eveland airport. (R 197 ARB 28-29, APX 45-46; Sassé TR
499-511, APX 371-374). That post-conplaint evidence was
adm ssi bl e because it tended to show that the environnmental work
he had been doing in the early 1990s, including work on the
airport property brought to |ight during Bogas, was sufficiently
inportant to provide a retaliatory notive for individuals
opposed to environnental prosecutions. (See R 197 ARB 30, APX
47 (evidence admssible to shed light on the conplainant's

reasoning and credibility)); Renusat v. Bartlett Nuclear, Inc.,

Case No. 94-ERA-36, 1996 W. 171434, at *3 n.4 (Sec'y Feb. 26,
1996) ("events occurring subsequent to a conplainant's
term nation may be pertinent to the conplainant's case"); Seater

v. Southern Cal. Edison Co., Case No. 96-013, 1996 W. 686411, at

*5 (ARB Sept. 27, 1996) ("evidence of incidents occurring or
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conditions developing in the [place of enploynent] as a result
of [an enployee's] accelerated departure may provide valuable
indicia of the supervisory mndset at the pertinent tine").
Because the evidence was "relevant to a pleaded issue," (Sassé's
credibility and a possible motive for DQJ to take actions
alleged in the conplaint), it "cannot serve to give [DQJ] fair
notice that the new, unpleaded issue is entering the case.”

Yel | ow Freight, 954 F.2d at 358.

Moreover, statenents by the ALJ and Sassé's attorney
confirmthat DQJ | acked fair notice that a new i ssue had entered
the case. Sassé's attorney expressly told the ALJ, when DQJ
asked the ALJ to exclude the testinony, that "there is no
specific claim related to NASA There is no specific claim
related to the other matters which the Government seeks to
strike." (R 197 ARB 29, APX 46; TR 1108, APX 427). In 1ssuing
his decision, the ALJ admtted that his rulings permtting the
evi dence at the hearing had not "directly addressed” whether the
evidence related to post-conplaint protected activity (Sassé's
congressional contacts) or pre-conplaint protected activity. (R
150 ALJ 14-15, APX 71-72). These statenents support the Board's
finding that DQJ's first notice of a claim based solely on
Sassé's suspension cane when it received the ALJ's recomended
deci si on. (R 197 ARB 30, APX 47). They also show that the

parties did not under[stand] the evidence to be ainmed at the
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unpl eaded issue,” as is required to establish inplied consent.
Kovacevich, 224 F.3d at 831 (citation omtted). Accordi ngly,
the Board did not abuse its discretion in finding no inplied
consent. Cf. Carlisle, 24 F.3d at 795 (error for agency to find
inplied consent where "the discussion between the ALJ and
counsel, the <conplaint, and the evidence adnmtted at the
heari ng" addressed another issue).®
I11. SASSE'S CLAIMS FAIL ON THE MERI TS

A St andard of review

The Board's conclusion that prosecutorial discretion bars
review of DQJ's prosecutorial actions is a |egal conclusion
reviewable de novo, with appropriate deference to the Board's
reasonable interpretation of the whistlebl ower provisions. See

Anmerican Nuclear Res., Inc. v. United States Dep't of Labor, 134

F.3d 1292, 1294 (6th Cr. 1998). The Board's findings of no
discrimnation are upheld if supported by substantial evidence.

See Varnadore, 141 F.3d at 631; American Nuclear, 134 F.3d at

1294.

5 Sassé asserts that DQJ had a fair opportunity to address

t he suspension issue because the ALJ allowed DQJ to reopen its
case after initially denying DQ the opportunity to call

rebuttal w tnesses. Pet. Br. 25-27. The evidence at issue in
the ALJ's reopening rulings had nothing to do with Sassé's
suspensi on. (See TR 1109-1112, APX 427-428 (ALJ's initial

denial); TR 1126, APX 429 (ALJ's reopening)). DQJ had no fair
opportunity to address the suspension issue because there was no
notice that Sassé was raising a claimbased on the suspension.
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B. DQJ' s prosecutorial actions are not reviewabl e

A decision whether to prosecute "has |ong been regarded as
the special province of the Executive Branch, inasnuch as it is
the Executive who is charged by the Constitution to 'take Care
that the Laws be faithfully executed.'" Heckler v. Chaney, 470
U S 821, 832 (1985) (quoting U.S. Const. art. 1I, 8 3); see

also United States v. Renfro, 620 F.2d 569, 574 (6th Gr.),

cert. denied, 449 U S. 902 (1980). The Attorney General and
United States Attorneys are designated by the President to help
hi m di scharge his constitutional responsibility. 28 U S.C 509,
516, 519, 547. Accordingly, they have broad discretion to

enforce federal crimnal |aws. United States v. Arnstrong, 517

U S. 456, 464 (1996).

Because of this broad discretion, a prosecutorial decision
not to take enforcenent action 1is not reviewable. See
Arnstrong, 517 U. S. at 464; Heckler, 470 U S. at 831-832. Even
where a prosecutor's discretion is subject to constitutiona
constraints, as when a prosecution is based on an unjustifiable
standard such as race, religion, or ot her arbitrary
cl assification, a prosecutorial decision is presunptively
correct and clear evidence to the contrary is needed to overcone
the presunption. Armstrong, 517 U S. at 464-465. Thi s

deference to prosecutorial discretion rests in part on a court's
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difficulty in evaluating the factors that go into a
prosecutorial decision. 1d. at 465. It also stens

from a concern not to unnecessarily inpair the
performance  of a core executive constitutional
function. 'Exam ning the basis of a prosecution del ays
the crimnal proceeding, threatens to chill | aw
enforcement by subjecting the prosecutor's notives and
deci sionmaking to outside inquiry, and may underm ne
prosecutori al ef fectiveness by reveal i ng t he
Governnment's enforcenent policy.'

| bid. (quoting Wayte v. United States, 470 U S. 598, 607

(1985)); see also Renfro, 620 F.2d at 574 ("'intervention by the
court in the internal affairs of the Justice Departnment would
clearly constitute a violation of the Separation of Powers
Doctrine'") (citation omtted); Peek v. Mtchell, 419 F.2d 575,
577 (6th Cir. 1970) ("'courts are not to interfere with the free
exercise of the discretionary powers of the attorneys of the
United States in their control over crimnal prosecutions'")
(citation omtted).

In ight of these principles, the Board correctly concl uded
that it should not construe the whistleblower provisions at
issue here to permt review of DQJ's prosecutorial decisions to
appeal or seek indictnment. Congress has long recognized the
Attorney General's authority to mnage and direct DQJ's
prosecutorial decisionnaking. See 28 U S.C. 509, 516, 519.
O her stautes should not be construed to intrude on this

authority unless they do so expressly. (See R 197 ARB 16, APX
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33 ("prosecutorial discretion occupies such a promnent place in
American jurisprudence that Congress would have been explicit
had it intended to abrogate prosecutorial discretion in the
whi st | ebl ower  provisions")). Put differently, the Board
perm ssibly construed the general anti-retaliation |anguage in
the CAA, SWA, and FWCA provisions not to authorize the
Secretary of Labor to scrutinize prosecutorial decisionmaking
that other statutes have long conmtted to the Attorney General.

Sassé does not dispute the inportance of preserving DQJ's
prosecutori al di scretion or the Board's |egal anal ysi s.
| nstead, he argues that, so long as a prosecutorial decision is
not itself an actionable form of discrimnation, DQJ should have
to explain its prosecutorial decisions in defending against
charges that it took adverse enploynent actions because of
hostility to an AUSA s prosecution of environmental crines.
Pet. Br. 31-33. Sassé would therefore permit the Departnent of
Labor and a court to find discrimnation by second-guessing a
DQJ prosecutorial decision. (See also R 161, at 23, APX 336
(Sassé's request for the Board to order that Sassé "be assigned
a new supervisor and restored to his role as an environnental
crinmes prosecutor")).

The Board correctly rejected Sassé's approach. (See R 197

ARB 15, APX 32 (striking portion of ALJ's decision that
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conducted such a review)).® As discussed above, courts refuse to
review DQJ prosecutorial decisions because they are not equi pped
to assess all the factors that go into such decisions. See
Arnstrong, 517 U S. at 465. Courts do not becone better
equi pped just because they are reviewng a prosecutorial
decision in deciding whether to set aside sonme enpl oynent action
rat her than the prosecutorial decision itself. Sassé' s approach
al so rai ses separation of powers concerns because it "'threatens
to chill law enforcenment by subjecting the prosecutor's notives
and decisionmeking to outside inquiry, and may underm ne
prosecutori al effectiveness by revealing the Governnent's
enforcement policy.'" |Id. at 465 (citation omtted); (see R 150
ALJ 9-14, APX 66-71 (ALJ's exam nation of DQJ's reasons for not
prosecuting a mmjor environnental case)). The Board's
construction of the CAA, SWA, and FWPCA provisions should be

uphel d because it avoids these concerns. See, e.g., United

States v. Brown, 25 F.3d 307, 309 (6th Cr.) ("we are guided by

the principle that we should interpret statutes to avoid

6 Sassé asserts that the Board m sconstrued his argunment to

mean that supervisory hostility to environnental crinmes itself
violates the environnental statutes. Pet. Br. 31 That
assertion is incorrect because it is based on the Board's
guotation of a brief submtted to the Board, not on the Board's
anal ysi s.
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constitutional problens whenever possible"), cert. denied, 513
U.S. 1045 (1994).°

C. The Board's findings of no discrimnation are supported by
substanti al evi dence

In a whistleblower case, a conplainant nust establish by a
preponderance of the evidence that the respondent took adverse
enpl oynent action against the conplainant because of the
conplainant's protected activity. (R 197 ARB 18, APX 35); see,

e.g., Wite v. Burlington NN & S.F. Ry., 364 F.3d 789, 795-800

(6th Cr. 2004) (en banc) (reaffirmng adverse action

requi renent for retaliation case); Anmerican Nuclear, 134 F.3d at

1295 (whistleblower elenents). To neet this burden, the
conplainant first has to establish a prima facie case of

di scrim nation. (R 197 ARB 18, APX 35); see, e.g., Bartlik v.

United States Dep't of Labor, 73 F.3d 100, 102, 103 n.6 (6th

Cr. 1996). If the conplainant does so, the enployer nust
produce a legitimte, nondiscrimnatory reason for its actions.

(R 197 ARB 18, APX 35); see, e.g., DeFord v. Secretary of Labor,

! Sassé also argues that prosecuting crines is protected

activity because it falls within the statutory definitions of
protected activity. Pet. Br. 30-31. This Court should not
address that issue because the Board found it unnecessary to do
so and its decision can be affirnmed on other grounds. If the
Court decides that the issue needs to be addressed, it should
remand the case so that the Board can decide the issue in the
first instance, given the Board's expertise in whistleblower
matters and the deference that Courts give to agency
interpretations of the statutes they adm nister.
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700 F.2d 281, 285 (6th Cr. 1983). If the enployer does so, the
conpl ai nant nust prove by a preponderance of the evidence that
the enployer intentionally discrimnated. (R 197 ARB 18, APX

35); see, e.g., Kovacevich, 224 F.3d at 821-826.

Wen a conplainant alleges a hostile work environnent, he
must prove that he experienced harassnment severe or pervasive
enough to alter the conditions of enploynent and create an
abusi ve work environnent. (R 197 ARB 34, APX 51); see, e.g.

Morgan, 536 U.S. at 116; Burnett v. Tyco Corp., 203 F.3d 980

982 (6th CGr.), cert. denied, 531 U S 928 (2000). Such pr oof
substitutes for the "adverse enploynent action"” elenment of a
plaintiff's claim \Wite, 364 F.3d at 795 n.1. The conpl ai nant
must still establish the other elenments of his case, i.e., that

the harassnment was in retaliation for protected activity. See

e.g., Mrris v. Odham County Fiscal Court, 201 F.3d 784, 792-

793 (6th G r. 2000).

In this case, the Board found that DQJ did not discrimnate
agai nst Sassé under these standards. (R 197 ARB 19-26, 30-36,
APX 36-43, 47-53). It specifically found no retaliation because
of Sassé's prosecution of environmental crimes and service on an
environmental task force; no retaliation because of Sassé's
congressional contacts; and no hostile work environnent. Those
findings should be affirmed because they are supported by
substanti al evi dence.

44



1. DQJ did not retaliate against Sassé because he
prosecuted environmental <crimes and served on an
envi ronnmental task force

In a detailed analysis of the record, the Board found that
even if the allegations in Sassé's conplaint were tinely, they
were neritless. (R 197 ARB 19-26, APX 36-43). That finding
shoul d be affirned because, as the Board concl uded, Sassé sinply
did not prove the elenents of his case.

Initially, the Board properly questioned whether Sassé had
established that the lower ratings on parts of his appraisals
even ampunted to an adverse enploynent action because the
overall ratings of "Excellent" remained the sane and Sassé
suffered no economc loss or |ost opportunities. (R 197 ARB 19,
APX 36); see Prines v. Reno, 190 F.3d 765, 767 (6th Cr. 1999)
(AUSA' s "fully successful"” evaluation is not an adverse action);

Hollins v. Atlantic Co., 188 F.3d 652, 662 (6th Cr. 1999)

("lowered ratings do not establish an adverse enploynent
action"). The Board then found that the ratings and |ack of
awards were based on shortcomings in Sassé's work and not
di scrimnatory aninus. (R 197 ARB 20-21, APX 37-38). That
finding should be affirmed because Sassé has presented nothing
to challenge it, not even the "vague inpressions of office
practices" that the Board rejected as insufficient. (ld. at 21

APX 38).
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The Board also permssibly found a |lack of discrimnation
because the Chief of Sassé's Division was not hostile to Sassé's
environnmental work, as shown by his assigning Sassé to
environmental work and authorization for Sassé to travel around
the country to attend dozens of sem nars and give presentations
on environmental |aw issues. (R 197 ARB 22, APX 39). The Board
found, with record support, that the Chief told Sassé that he
still had to do his other work, despite "gallivanting around New
Ol eans” during an environnmental seminar with the United States
Attorney, because the Chief was concerned with Sassé' s |ow
productivity. (ld. at 3, 22, APX 20, 39). The Board further
found that there is not a "scintilla of evidence" to support
Sassé's "basel ess accusation” that the Chief or anyone else at
DQJ decided not to pursue a nmjor environnental case against a
conpany because forner EPA enpl oyees worked there. (ld. at 13
n.6, APX 30). Sassé presents nothing to suggest that these
findings are invalid under a substantial evidence standard of

revi ew except for attacks on the Chief that sinply are not true.?

8 Sassé asserts as a fact his own testinony that the Chief

angrily clainmed that he (the Chief) had dunped hazardous waste
before he worked for the governnent. Pet. Br. 9-10. The Chi ef
flatly denied that accusation, and the Board rejected Sassé's
uncorroborated assertion as "inplausible.” (R 197 ARB 36, APX
53). Sassé then asserts as fact his testinony that the Chief
used foul |anguage to discuss environnental cases and nade the
gallivanting comment repeatedly during file reviews instead of
just once. Pet. Br. 10-12. As the Board found, none of Sassé's

(continued . . .)
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Sassé has also failed to show any reason to second-guess
the Board's findings that none of DQJ's reasons for its actions
is pretextual. The Board found that in 1992 DQJ assigned
Secretary X to Sassé and to another attorney who did no
environmental work because their offices were close to hers, and
in later years DQJ effectively addressed problens in her work.
(R 197 ARB 22-23, APX 39-40). Sassé provides nothing to
undermne the Board's findings except the baseless assertion
that the Board's finding of a 1992 reassi gnment sonehow makes
the Board's separate finding of no 1996 reassignnent (id. at 9-
10, APX 26-27) "insufficiently clear.” Pet. Br. 36. The Board
found that Sassé's caseload was not significantly greater than
average for an AUSA or a result of discrimnatory aninus. (R
197 ARB 23-24, APX 40-41). Sassé does not even address this
findi ng. The Board found no DQOJ obstruction of Sassé's access
to training and instruction, much |ess obstruction for
di scrimnatory reasons. (1d. at 25-26, APX 42-43). Agai n,
Sassé fails to address this finding. Instead, Sassé argues that
the Board should have deferred to ALJ fact findings in favor of
Sassé, wthout nentioning that the ALJ, like the Board, found

that DQJ did not discrimnate against Sassé for his work

(. . . continued)
testinmony is corroborated in any way, and other w tnesses denied
it. (R 197 ARB 36, APX 53).
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prosecuting envi r onnent al crimes and servi ng on t he
environnmental task force. Pet. Br. 34; (see R 150 ALJ 8-14, APX
65-71).° Sassé also argues that the Board erroneously based its
decision on Sassé's failure to establish a prinma facie case,
Pet. Br. 35, when the Board in fact ruled on the ultinmate issue
of discrimnation and found that Sassé failed to prove that
DQJ's reasons for its actions were pretextual. (See R 197 ARB

19- 26, APX 36-43).1°

o In his statement of facts, but not in his argunment, Sassé

asserts that DQJ used his health problens as an opportunity to
di m nish his environnental crine fighting efforts. Pet. Br. 13.
As discussed above, pp. 13-14, in 1999 DQJ reassigned Sassé's
environnmental work at the EPA's request when Sassé was on | eave
for heart surgery. Wien Sassé returned to work, DQJ and the EPA
agreed not to return the cases to Sassé because the attorney who
was then working on the cases was doing an outstanding job and
there were serious concerns about Sassé's health status.
(Martin TR 730, APX 391; Stickan TR 1005-1006, APX 422).
Sassé's suggestion that the Deputy Chief discrimnated against
him by scrutinizing his |eave records nore closely than he
i nvestigated the reasons for Sassé's unhappiness with the Chief
(Pet. Br. 12-13) is also neritless. The Deputy Chief stated
that he investigated Sassé's use of |eave because Sassé had the
| onest | eave balance in the office and gave no reason for using
| eave except the inappropriate reason of "norale.” (Stickan TR
943-944, APX 410-411). The Deputy Chief was expected to
investigate wunder the United States Attorney's |eave policy
because such excessive |eave use adversely affects productivity
and scheduling. (Edwards TR 786-789, APX 394-395).

10 Sassé is also wong in stating that reliance on a
plaintiff's failure to prove a prima facie case is necessarily
reversible error. Pet. Br. 35; see Kovacevich, 224 F.3d at 824.
I n Departnent of Labor whistleblower cases, "adjusting the order
of proof" becones an "academ c exercise[] of little or no val ue"
wher e substanti al evi dence supports t he Secretary's
determ nation. DeFord, 700 F.2d at 285.
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2. DQ) did not discrinmnate against Sassé when it
suspended him

The Board held that even if Sassé's suspension was properly
before the ALJ, Sassé is entitled to no relief because he failed
to prove that the suspension was retaliatory. (R 197 ARB 30
APX 47). That finding also should be affirnmed because it is
supported by substantial evidence, even considering the ALJ's

contrary reconmmended finding. See Painting Co., 298 F.3d at 499

(""the possibility of drawing two inconsistent conclusions from
t he evidence does not prevent an adm nistrative agency's finding
from being supported by substantial evidence' ") (citation
omtted); Varnadore, 141 F.3d at 630 (this Court "'defer[s] to
the inferences that the [Board] derives from the evidence, not
to those of the ALJ'") (citations omtted).

First, there is no evidence that the persons in EOUSA who
suspended Sassé or recommended the suspension knew about his
contacts with Congressman Kucinich's office. (R 197 ARB 30-31
APX 47-48). Their |ack of know edge by itself neans that Sassé
cannot prove that the suspension was in retaliation for those

cont act s. See, e.g., Bartlik, 73 F.3d at 102. The Board

therefore correctly overturned the ALJ's contrary finding
wi t hout according it any special deference.
Second, the record fully supports the Board' s finding that

Sassé failed to establish the causality elenent of his claim
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(See R 197 ARB 31, APX 48). DQ) asserted that Sassé was
suspended in My 2000 because in 1997 he violated governnment
ethics rules by using his DQJ position to attenpt to obtain
private enploynment wth NASA. Sassé had to prove that this
reason was a pretext for discrimnation. The Board found that
he failed to do so for numerous reasons supported by the record,
including DQJ's | ack of reason to care about Sassé's invol venent
with the NASA property because its condition was already public
knowl edge in 1997; DQJ's pronpt investigation into Sassé's
al l egations of NASA wongdoing, which was the opposite of a
cover up; and the serious nature of Sassé's ethical violation,
which warranted a five-day suspension. (ld. at 30-33, APX 47-
50). Sassé ignores these findings and presents nothing to
suggest that the findings are so unreasonable that they fail the

subst anti al evi dence test.!!

11 Sassé argues that the suspension nust have been retaliatory

because he was first investigated on October 14, 1998, only nine
days after he filed his 2l11-paragraph list of retaliatory acts
and served EQUSA with a copy. Pet. Br. 37. This argunent,
supported by RX Y-5, which was withdrawmn at the ALJ hearing (TR
1239, APX 431), is not properly before this Court because Sassé
did not raise it to the Board. See, e.g., United States v. L.A
Tucker Truck Lines, Inc., 344 U S. 33, 36-37 (1952); H x .
Director, OANCP, 824 F.2d 526, 527-528 (6th Cr. 1987). The
argunent is also neritless because the Board found that the
investigation of Sassé was ongoing from October 1997, well
before Sassé filed his list of retaliatory acts. (R 197 ARB 32,
APX 49). Sassé's request for the Court to equate his experience
with the experience of a NASA engineer with NASA (Pet. Br. 38-
39) is neritless because the engineer, unlike Sassé, did not

(continued . . .)

50



3. There was no hostile work environment, |et alone an
envi ronnent that was discrinmnatory

As discussed above, a conplainant who alleges a hostile
work environnent nust prove that he experienced harassnent
severe or pervasive enough to alter the conditions of enploynent
and create an abusive work environnment. (R 197 ARB 34, APX 51);

see, e.g., Mrgan, 536 U S at 116; Burnett, 203 F.3d at 982.

Such proof substitutes for the "adverse enploynent action”
elenent of a plaintiff's claim but does not relieve the
conpl ai nant of his burden of proving that the harassnent was in
retaliation for protected activity. (R 197 ARB 34, APX 51); see
Wiite, 364 F.3d at 795 n.1; Mrris, 201 F.3d at 792-793.

In this case, the Board and ALJ both rejected Sassé's
argunents that DQJ had discrimnated agai nst him because of his
envi ronnmental prosecutions. (R 197 ARB 19-26, 35-36, APX 36-43,
52-53; R 150 ALJ 9, APX 66). The Board additionally found that
even if Sassé's allegations of harassment occurred, they do not
establish a hostile work environnent. (R 197 ARB 35, APX 52;
see also R 150 ALJ 9, APX 66 ("The nature of the interactions
descri bed by Conpl ai nant regardi ng prosecution decisions are to
be expected and are found to be a normal part of the give and

take expected in [Sassé' s] office.")). That finding should be

(. . . continued)
vi ol ate government ethics rules, and DQJ, unlike NASA, was not
charged wi th wongdoi ng concerning the NASA property.
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affirmed as supported by substantial evidence because Sassé is
basically conplaining about the kind of "offensive utterances”
that do not establish severe or pervasive harassnment as a matter

of | aw. See, e.g., Burnett, 203 F.3d at 983-985; Black wv.

Zaring Hones, Inc., 104 F.3d 822, 826-827 (6th Cr.), cert.

denied, 522 U S. 865 (1997); Crawford v. Medina Gen. Hosp., 96

F.3d 830, 836 (6th Cr. 1996). Like the AUSA in Prinmes, 190
F.3d at 767, he is sinply "unhappy and resentful,” and not the

victimof discrimnation.??

12 Sassé does not dispute that the conduct described by the
Board was not by itself severe or pervasive enough to alter the
conditions of his enploynent. | nstead, he argues that because
incidents of harassnent should be considered together rather
than separately, see WIllians v. General Mtors Corp., 187 F.3d
553, 562 (6th Cr. 1999), the Board should have conbined the
all egedly harassing conduct in this case with the other acts
that the Board analyzed as discrete retaliatory acts to see
whet her they "could add up to being a hostile environnment."
Pet. Br. 34. This Court, however, analyzes discrete clains of

di scrimnation separately from harassnent clains. See, e.g.,
Allen v. Mchigan Dep't of Corr., 165 F.3d 405, 409-412 (6th
Cr. 1999). Actions that are not discrimnatory -- such as the
di screte acts in this case -- also do not count toward a hostile

envi ronnent claim Morris, 201 F.3d at 790-791.
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CONCLUSI ON

The petition for review should be deni ed.
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